### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Joseph Miker, Grievant below, Petitioner, ICA EFiled: Mar 15 2023 01:49PM EDT Transaction ID 69445672

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

**CASE NO.: 22-ICA-311** 

Monongalia County Board of Education, Respondent below, Respondent.

### PETITIONERS' BRIEF

William C. Brewer, Esq.
West Virginia State Bar No. 448
Ramsey K. Jorgensen, Esq.
West Virginia State Bar No. 14074
P.O. Box 4206
Morgantown, WV 26504
wbrewer@brewerlaw.com
ramsey@brewerlaw.com
Counsel for the Petitioner Joseph Miker

#

II.	Statement of the Case		
	A.	Factual Background	
	B.	Procedural Background	
III.	Standard of Review		
IV.	Requ	uest for Oral Argument	
V.	Summary of the Argument		
VI.	Argument		
	A.	The ALJ erred in finding that Mr. Miker's years of experience pay was awarded in error, and he is not entitled to the same as it was an error regarding his education, not his experience, for which the years of experience pay were taken	
	B.	The ALJ erred when it incorrectly determined that Mr. Miker's private sector experience did not meet the statutory definition of experience to provide him the years of experience pay	
VII.	Con	lusion	
Certi	ficate	of Service	

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

State Court Cases
Calvill v. Mercer Cnty Bd. of Educ., 208 W.Va. 177, 539 S.E.2d 437 (2000)
Public Employees Grievance Board Decisions
Pugh v. Hancock County Bd. of Educ., 95-15-128 (June 5, 1995)
Stover v. Div. of Corr., Docket No. 04-CORR-259 (Sept. 24, 2004)
Paul Smith, et al., v. Randolph County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 2014-0385-CONS
(Jan. 14, 2015)
West Virginia Statutes
W.Va. Code § 18A-4-1

### PETITIONER JOSEPH MIKER'S BRIEF

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The ALJ erred in finding that Mr. Miker's years of experience pay was awarded in error, and he is not entitled to the same as it was an error regarding his education, not his experience, for which the years of experience pay were taken.
- The ALJ erred when it incorrectly determined that Mr. Miker's private sector experience did not meet the statutory definition of experience to provide him the years of experience pay.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual Background

Petitioner Joseph Miker, (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Miker"), is currently employed by the Monongalia County Board of Education ("MCBE") as a heating, ventilation, and air conditioning ("HVAC") Career and Technical Education ("CTE") teacher at Monongalia Technical Education Center ("MTEC"). D.R.0033. Mr. Miker began his employment at MTEC just prior to the 2012 – 2013 school year. D.R.0034.

Prior to his employment at MTEC, Mr. Miker worked at Darvzer Inc. and at Sid Harvey Inc. for a total of Twenty-Eight (28) years. D.R.0081. Mr. Miker held various positions within both companies, but ultimately found himself in a management, sales, and technical advisor position. D.R.0081. Mr. Miker's duties, included, but were not limited to, management of the store, personnel, and day-to-day operations, and advise consumers and/or installers of the equipment and products, including installation, repair, and other mechanical and technical issues with the equipment and products.

D.R.0081. In or around 2012 when Mr. Miker was hired by MTEC, he applied for 28 years' experience pay for his roles and positions he held prior to gaining employment at MTEC. D.R.0035.

Initially, that request was granted by MCBE. D.R.0038. However, it was later discovered that Mr. Miker did not hold a bachelor's degree, a requirement of MCBE to grant years of experience pay to its technical teachers. D.R.0038. Mr. Miker had, at that time, received roughly Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) attributable to his years of experience pay. D.R.0038 Mr. Miker was given Three (3) options: (1) pay back the money in one lump sum payment; (2) pay back the money in installments that were to be garnished from his paychecks; or (3) resign his employment from MTEC. D.R.0038 Mr. Miker chose option (2), and the pre-mature funds were paid back to MCBE.

Mr. Miker was informed that if he wished to receive his years of experience pay, he would need to earn a bachelor's degree and submit that request for approval.

In December 2021, Mr. Miker did earn a Regent's Bachelor's degree from West Virginia University. D.R.0039, D.R.0084. Mr. Miker then re-applied for his years of experience pay, which was denied.

# B. Procedural History

On or about January 24, 2022, Mr. Miker filed a Level One grievance with the Public Employees Grievance Board ("PEGB"), alleging discrimination, favoritism, and a grievance under W.Va. Code § 6C-2-2 and alleged that there was not uniformity of pay and responsibilities for like assignments under W.Va. Code §§ 18A-2-2, 18A-4-1, and

18A-4-2. Specifically, Mr. Miker stated he was requesting experience pay, and that request was denied. At that time, Petitioner requested a Level One Conference. The Level One Conference was held on March 7, 2022, wherein Mr. Miker was granted Ten (10) years' experience following a discussion and offer by Respondent.

On or about March 28, 2022, Petitioner filed a Level Two grievance with the PEGB with the same allegations. At that time, Mr. Miker requested a Level Two Mediation by an Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ"). The mediation was conducted on or about May 9, 2022.

After an unsuccessful mediation, Mr. Miker filed a Level Three grievance with the PEGB on or about May 16, 2022. At that time, Petitioner requested a hearing before an ALJ. A hearing before ALJ Ronald L. Reece was held on or about August 18, 2022. In the Decision from which this appeal is taken, dated November 1, 2022, Petitioner's relief was denied.

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in this case is both deferential and *de novo*. "Grievance rulings involve a combination of both deferential and plenary review. Since a reviewing court is obligated to give deference to factual findings rendered by an administrative law judge, a circuit court is not permitted to substitute its judgment for that of the hearing examiner with regard to factual determinations. Credibility determinations made by an administrative law judge are similarly entitled to deference. Plenary review is conducted as to the conclusions of law and application of law to the facts, which are

reviewed de novo." Syl. pt. 1, Caliill v. Mercer Cnty. Bd. Of Educ., 208 W.Va. 177, 539 S.E.2d 437 (2000).

#### IV. REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner hereby requests that he be permitted to present Oral Argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure as this case involves both issues of law and issues of fact.

### V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The ALJ held that Mr. Miker was not entitled to years of experience pay that was initially granted to him based on a mistake. However, the cases cited by the ALJ are distinguishable from the case at bar because in the cases cited by the ALJ, the mistake violated a policy previously set and in place at the time the mistake was made. In this case, no policy existed at the time Mr. Miker was granted the years of experience pay in 2012 regarding the experience's match with the statutory definition of experience. The only policy was one that required MTEC CTE instructors to first have a bachelor's degree prior to receiving credit for their years of experience in the private sector. The mistake that was made eliminated Mr. Miker's entitlement to credit for his private sector years of experience at that time, but it was not a mistake that eliminated Mr. Miker's eligibility for years of experience completely.

Furthermore, it cannot be argued that Mr. Miker's experience in the private sector did not qualify as experience within the statutory definition. Mr. Miker, while employed in the private sector, was tasked with having a full and complete knowledge of the equipment and products his employer manufactured and sold. While in his role

as a technical advisor, Mr. Miker actually taught and advised consumers, contractors, and distributors that used, installed, maintained, repaired, and/or sold the equipment and products manufactured and sold by Mr. Miker's employer how to properly use, install, maintain, and repair the equipment and products. Certainly, Mr. Miker's experience and knowledge in actually teaching and advising these other individuals qualifies as experience under the statutory definition.

Even still, Mr. Miker's duties and responsibilities as an HVAC instructor at MTEC require him to teach his students about all aspects of the HVAC industry, including the business side of running an HVAC company. It cannot be argued that Mr. Miker's experience in a managerial role in the private sector does not qualify as experience under the statutory definition.

### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The ALJ erred in finding that Mr. Miker's years of experience pay was awarded in error, and he is not entitled to the same as it was an error regarding his education, not his experience, for which the years of experience pay were taken.

In denying Mr. Miker's grievance, the ALJ found that Mr. Miker was granted the years of experience pay in 2012 when initially hired based on a mistake made by the administration at that time. While that fact may be partially true, the mistake must be scrutinized to determine which mistake was made in granting Mr. Miker the years of experience pay initially.

In holding that Mr. Miker was not entitled to the years of experience pay, the ALJ held that past mistakes do not entitle greivants to future pay. The ALJ relied on *Pugli v*.

Hancock County Bd. Of Educ., Docket No. 95-15-128 (June 5, 1995) and Stover v. Div. of Corr., Docket No. 04-CORR-259 (Sept. 24, 2004) in order to come to this conclusion. However, the cases cited by the ALJ are distinguishable from this case.

In *Pugli*, the grievant alleged that she was entitled to an hourly pay of Twenty Dollars and 49/100 (\$20.49) for her role as a Saturday School chaperone. *Pugli v*. *Hancock County Bd. Of Educ.*, Docket No. 95-15-128 (June 5, 1995). During the hearing before the ALJ, the Respondent introduced evidence, that upon the Hancock County Board of Education's approval, Weir High School created the Saturday School program as an alternative to out-of-school suspensions for students. *Id.* Upon receiving approval and the creation of the program, a formal job listing was posted seeking Saturday School teachers. *Id.* The job listing, as posted, noted a salary of Twelve Dollars (\$12.00) per hour. *Id.* 

Later, administration at Oak Glen High School, the place of employment for the grievant, expressed interest in creating the same or similar program as the Saturday School program at Weir High School. *Id.* Oak Glen High School then received the approval from the Hancock County Board of Education. *Id.* No formal job posting was listed for Saturday School chaperones at Oak Glen High School. *Id.* 

After her first assignment of Saturday School chaperoning, the grievant received her paycheck providing for the higher rate of Twenty Dollars and 49/100 (\$20.49) per hour rather than the Twelve Dollars (\$12.00) per hour rate. *Id.* Upon notification from the business office, the superintendent of the school system discovered that some Saturday School chaperones were receiving a high pay rate than the Twelve Dollars

(\$12.00) per hour due to a clerical error in the executing and issuing of paychecks. *Id.*The superintendent notified those affected by the clerical error and informed them that the pay rate was to be, and would continue to be, Twelve Dollars (\$12.00) per hour. *Id.* 

The ALJ in *Pugli* concluded that the grievant was not entitled to the increased rate. *Id.* The increased rate only came about due to a clerical error. *Id.* Furthermore, there was a policy in place that Saturday School chaperones were to be paid at a rate of Twelve Dollars (\$12.00) per hour. *Id.* The clerical error did not entitle the grievant to a continuation of the increased rate. *Id.* 

In Stover, the grievant requested reimbursement for travel expenses that she incurred as a result of being called into work on a scheduled day off. Stover v. Div. of Corr., Docket No. 04-CORR-259 (Sept. 24, 2004). The grievant claimed that she had been compensated for such travel on days off in the past, proving that a policy existed that allowed the reimbursement of travel expenses on scheduled days off when the employee was called to work. Id. However, the respondent in that case, Mount Olive Correctional Center, argued that the grievant was not entitled to continued reimbursement that was based on a mistake. Id. Mount Olive Correctional Center argued that the basis of determining whether an employee is entitled to reimbursement for travel expenses was the State Auditor's rule that compensable mileage must meet the federal Internal Revenue Service's rules. Id. Mount Olive Correctional Center further provided evidence that Section 4.2.6.1 of the State Travel Rules provided that reimbursement for travel expenses was not to include reimbursement for "normal daily commuting mileage." Id.

Ultimately, the ALJ in Stover found that the grievant's "shifting schedule" and "overtime work" were both normal for her job, and ultimately, her travel to her place of employment on scheduled days off was "normal daily commuting mileage." Id. The ALJ held that the grievant was not entitled to reimbursement for travel expenses as there was a policy against providing such reimbursement for normal daily commuting mileage and the grievant was mistakenly provided reimbursement in the past, in violation of said policy. Id.

In this case, Mr. Miker was granted years of experience pay in 2012 upon his hiring into his position with MTEC and MCBE. At the time of Mr. Miker's hiring and currently, as testified to by Robert DeSantis ("Mr. DeSantis") the associate superintendent for MCBE, MCBE does not, and did not, have any policy regarding the criteria for the experience in granting or denial of years of experience credit to CTE teachers. D.R.0047. The grant or denial of years of experience credit is determined on a case-by-case basis. D.R.0047. The only policy that MCBE has in regards to granting or denying years of experience credit is that the applicant must first have obtained a bachelor's degree.

Having not yet earned a bachelor's degree in 2012, Mr. Miker was erroneously granted his years of experience pay. No mistake was made as to whether or not his experience fit the criteria for years of experience pay. No testimony or evidence was proffered that Mr. Miker was erroneously given the years of experience pay for failing to match the criteria for experience. Neither at the time of Mr. Miker's initial application for the years of experience pay in 2012 nor at the time of his subsequent application for

years of experience pay which led to this appeal has there been a policy regarding the criteria for granting or denying years of experience pay to CTE teachers. Finally, it was not due to any clerical, typographical, or other common error that Mr. Miker was granted the years of experience based on his experience's fitness into the statutory definition of "experience."

In discussing some of the other instances when MCBE did not grant years of experience pay to other applications by CTE instructors, Mr. DeSantis did not provide any insight into the policies or criteria for determining whether a person should be granted years of experience pay.

Mr. DeSantis testified regarding a CTE instructor that works with nursing students. D.R.0065. Mr. DeSantis explained that this CTE instructor requested years of experience credit for time she spent working in a doctor's office and aiding the doctor, which was verified by the doctor. D.R.0066. However, this CTE instructor was not employed in the nursing field prior to her employment at MTEC or MCBE. This instructor was a receptionist. D.R.0066. Additional information is not provided by Mr. DeSantis throughout his testimony regarding this instructor's denial, but it cannot be said that while this instructor was a receptionist that she was experienced in the field of nursing.

Mr. DeSantis further testified regarding a TISK instructor that applied for years of experience credit and was denied. D.R.0066. Mr. DeSantis explained that this TISK instructor had experience in computer programming prior to her employment with MTEC and MCBE. D.R.0066. Mr. DeSantis did not further expound on what this

person's role and duties were at MTEC, nor did he expound upon her role and duties at her previous employment. However, Mr. DeSantis conceded that this individual's previous employment did not relate to her new role as a TISK instructor at MTEC.

D.R.0066 - 67.

As will be discussed more fully within Section IV.B. of this brief, Mr. Miker's role and duties in his previous employment are directly related to his role and duties as an HVAC instructor at MTEC.

The mistake that was made by MCBE in 2012 granting Mr. Miker years of experience pay at that time was a mistake that eliminated Mr. Miker's entitlement to years of experience pay at that time, but it was not a mistake that eliminated Mr. Miker's entitlement to years of experience pay completely.

As a result, it cannot be said that Mr. Miker's grant of years of experience pay in 2012 was a mistake for failing to meet the criteria and/or against any policy regarding criteria, other than the policy that Mr. Miker did not yet meet the prerequisite of obtaining a bachelor's degree prior to receiving the years of experience pay. Once Mr. Miker had fulfilled the prerequisite for receiving the years of experience pay, MCBE should have granted his application for years of experience credit. In holding that Mr. Miker was not entitled to the years of experience pay based on mistake, the ALJ erred.

B. The ALJ erred when it incorrectly determined that Mr. Miker's private sector experience did not meet the statutory definition of experience to provide him the years of experience pay.

"County boards of education are required to provide uniform benefits and compensation only to similarly situated employees, meaning those who have 'like

classifications, ranks, assignments, duties and actual working days." *Paul Smith*, et al., v. *Randolph County Bd. Of Educ.*, Docket No. 2014-0385-CONS, (Jan. 14, 2015) (quoting *Bd. of Educ. v. Airhart*, 212 W.Va. 175, 569 S.E.2d 422 (2002); *Covert v. Putnam County Bd. of Educ.*, Docket No. 99-40-463 (Feb 29, 2000); and *Stanley v. Hancock County Bd. of Educ.*, Docket No. 95-15-217 (Sept. 29, 1995)). Grievants seeking to enforce the uniformity provisions must establish that their duties and assignments are like those of the employees whom they are attempting to compare themselves. *Paul Smith*, et al., v. *Randolph County Bd. of Educ.*, Docket No. 2014-0385-CONS (Jan. 14, 2015) (citing *Adkins v. Lincoln County Bd. of Educ.*, Docket No. 97-22-105 (Sept. 24, 1997).

West Virginia Code § 18A-4-1(1) states, in pertinent part, "Years of experience' means the number of years the teacher has been employed in the teaching profession, including active work in educational positions other than the public schools. . ."

The ALJ by way of its Decision dated November 1, 2022 determined that Mr.

Miker did not meet the criteria for receiving years of experience credit. The ALJ

effectively determined that Mr. Miker's position in a management, sales, and technical
advisor role did not relate to his duties as an HVAC instructor at MTEC.

In his testimony, Mr. DeSantis conceded that the reason for Mr. Miker's denial of the years of experience credit is his determination of the difference between knowledge and experience. D.R.0065. However, Mr. DeSantis completely ignores the cause of the knowledge gained by Mr. Miker: experience.

Throughout his private sector employment, Mr. Miker had duties that did not include solely management and sales responsibilities, but also responsibilities in

service, instruction, installation, design, and application of HVAC systems, parts, and supplies. D.R.0112. Mr. Miker, as a salesman and in his management and technical advisor role, was required to have an in-depth knowledge and understanding of the particular products, equipment, and mechanics of the products and equipment in order to effectively sell and aid in the installation and maintenance of the HVAC systems he sold. In the words of Mr. Miker: "you don't go to a contractor and start running your jaws if you don't know what you're talking about because they shoot you down just as fast as you can imagine." D.R.0053.

Furthermore, Mr. DeSantis, the ALJ, and MCBE ignore the certifications presented by Mr. Miker that show his knowledge and understanding of the HVAC trade. See D.R.0098 – D.R.0109. Again, while Mr. DeSantis states that there is a difference between knowledge and experience, Mr. DeSantis, and thereby the ALJ, ignore the cause of Mr. Miker's knowledge: a long and studious Twenty-Eight (28) year career within the private sector of the HVAC trade.

Mr. Miker testified that, in his positions in the private sector, he was responsible for the technical assistance of contractors and/or other persons involved in the installation and maintenance of the HVAC systems sold by him or his employer. How can it be that Mr. Miker is the point of reference to aid other individuals in the installation and maintenance of HVAC systems due to his experience with the equipment and products, yet Mr. Miker does not have the experience to warrant his receiving credit for the years of experience in the HVAC trade?

Finally, Mr. Miker testified that he installed HVAC systems for a time while working with contractors. While the work with contractors was not documented, nor did it appear on Mr. Miker's application for hire to MCBE, there is no evidence to the contrary that Mr. Miker did not in fact perform work and/or services for contractors

As to his duties and responsibilities as an HVAC instructor at MTEC, Mr. Miker stated in his testimony that he is required to describe, detail, and, of course, teach about different products, systems, and equipment that are used within the HVAC trade. His students have various assignments relating to HVAC systems. The students are expected to learn about not only the mechanics of the HVAC systems, but the causes and resolution of maintenance issues, the installation of the systems, and how to keep up in the industry as the products, equipment, and other aspects of the HVAC change constantly.

Mr. Miker's duties and responsibilities while employed in the private sector were the same. Mr. Miker, in selling and providing technical assistance regarding the HVAC equipment and products his company manufactured and sold, was required to have an in depth understanding of all aspects of the HVAC equipment and products. Mr. Miker could not have effectively remained in his position for nearly Thirty (30) years in the private sector without such a vast understanding of the equipment and products.

Furthermore, any contractor, distributor, or consumer working to install, maintain, or repair HVAC equipment or products from Mr. Miker's company that required assistance in such installation, maintenance, or repair would have had the opportunity to call the company and request such assistance. As a technical advisor for

the company, Mr. Miker could not have remained in that position and effectively provided assistance to consumers, contractors, or distributors without knowledge and experience in the HVAC field and knowledge and experience in dealing with such equipment and products.

In his role as a technical advisor in the private sector, Mr. Miker was engaged in the practice of actually teaching other individuals, whether contractors, distributors, or consumers about the mechanics, installation, maintenance, and repair issues of the HVAC equipment and products. To suggest that his teaching and assistance of technical issues is not related to his duties and responsibilities as an HVAC instructor at MTEC is ludicrous.

Even still, Mr. Miker's instruction is not simply limited to HVAC systems themselves, but Mr. Miker's instruction relates to all aspects of the HVAC industry. Mr. Miker duties and responsibilities in his role as an HVAC instructor at MTEC includes teaching his students about the business side of HVAC as well. It certainly cannot be argued that Mr. Miker's duties and responsibilities to teach his students regarding business aspects of the HVAC industry are not related to his managerial and/or sales position while employed in the private sector.

In finding that Mr. Miker was not entitled to years of experience credit, the ALJ erred.

#### VII. CONCLUSION

The ALJ erred when it found that Mr. Miker was granted the years of experience credit in 2012 based on a mistake that did not entitle him to future years of experience

credit as the mistake was not one that eliminated his ability to receive the credit, but it merely eliminated Mr. Miker's ability to receive the credit at that time. The ALJ erred when it found that Mr. Miker did not meet the criteria to receive years of experience credit as the ALJ ignored the reason for Mr. Miker's knowledge in the industry was experience, and Mr. Miker's employment experience in the private sector is directly related to his duties and responsibilities as an HVAC instructor at MTEC. Mr. Miker prays this Court reverse the Decision of the ALJ dated November 1, 2022, and remands this matter back to the ALJ for entry of a Decision granting Mr. Miker the years of experience credit he is due.

William C. Brewer, Esq.

WVSB No. 448

Ramsey K. Jorgensen, Esq.

WVSB No. 14074

Counsel for Petitioner

William C. Brewer & Assoc. PLLC

P.O. Box 4206

Morgantown, WV 26504

(304) 291-5800

wbrewer@brewerlaw.com

ramsey@brewerlaw.com