IN THE

Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia AM EDT

Transaction ID 69925688

DOCKET No. 22-ICA-311

JOSEPH MIKER,

Grievant Below, Petitioner,

v.

MONONGALIA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION,

Respondent Below, Respondent.

On Appeal From The Public Employees Grievance Board

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT:

DINSMORE & SHOHL LLP Of Counsel

Jason S. Long (W. Va. Bar No. 9080) Mary Catherine Tuckwiller (W. Va. Bar No. 11670) P.O. Box 1850 Lewisburg, West Virginia 24901 (304) 645-5360 (304) 645-5375 (facsimile) jason.long@dinsmore.com mc.tuckwiller@dinsmore.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the decision of the Grievance Board. First, Miker has not submitted any evidence from which this Court could determine that the decision not to award him years of experience was the result of discrimination or favoritism. Although not the Board's legal burden, it was only the Board that submitted any evidence on this point, and the only evidence submitted demonstrated that no other similarly-situated CTE teacher is paid for years of

experience for service in the private sector. Indeed, doing so would violate the express statutory language governing years of experience for pay purposes.

Second, Miker's argument on appeal that the Board (or even the Grievance Board) misapplied the statute is plainly wrong. The statute makes clear that years of experience are only awarded for those years during which the teacher was employed in a "teaching profession" or in "educational positions." Miker's employment in the private sector quite simply does not qualify him to receive years of experience for pay purposes. While that experience did provide him with knowledge of the substantive area that he teaches, it clearly does not qualify him to receive credit for those years of employment under the appropriate statutory language.

Finally, the fact that the Board made a mistake in awarding him experience credit when he was initially employed cannot be used to justify the award of experience credit now. The Board's decision to award credit was mistaken, and as it was a misinterpretation of the statute, it was *ultra vires*. Such a decision cannot be used to justify a future award of years of experience.

For those reasons, this Court should affirm the decision of the Grievance Board, denying his grievance.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent does not believe that oral argument is necessary in this case, as the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented by the briefs and the record.

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the decision of the Grievance Board for three reasons. First, Miker has failed to present any evidence from which the Court could determine that the decision not to award years of experience was the result of discrimination or favoritism. Second, Miker's argument on appeal that the statutory language concerning the application of years of experience

was misapplied is wrong. Finally, the fact that the Board made a mistake in awarding the years of experience at one point does not justify awarding those years of experience going forward.

A. The Grievance Board Correctly Determined That Miker Failed To Support His Allegations Of Discrimination Or Favoritism.

This court should affirm the decision of the Grievance Board. The Grievance Board's Decision denying Miker's grievance is "permitted to stand unless it was clearly wrong." *Martin v. Barbour Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, Syl. Pt. 3, 228 W. Va. 238, 719 S.E.2d 406 (2011) (quoting *Randolph Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Scalia*, Syl. Pt. 1, 182 W. Va. 289, 387 S.E.2d 524 (1989)). The Supreme Court of Appeals has stated the following with respect to the standard of review:

Since a reviewing court is obligated to give deference to factual findings rendered by an administrative law judge, a circuit court is not permitted to substitute its judgment for that of the hearing examiner with regard to factual determinations. Credibility determinations made by an administrative law judge are similarly entitled to deference. Plenary review is conducted as to the conclusions of law and application of law to the facts, which are reviewed de novo.

Cahill v. Mercer Cnty. Bd. of Educ., Syl. Pt. 1, 208 W. Va. 177, 539 S.E.2d 437 (2000).

As the Grievance Board noted, discrimination and favoritism are defined for purposes of the grievance process. Discrimination is defined as "any differences in the treatment of similarly situated employees, unless the differences are related to the actual job responsibilities of the employees or are agreed to in writing by the employees." W. Va. Code § 6C-2-2(d) (2022). Favoritism is defined as "unfair treatment of an employee as demonstrated by preferential, exceptional, or advantageous treatment of a similarly situated employee unless agreed to in writing or related to actual job responsibilities." W. Va. Code § 6C-2-2(h) (2022). To demonstrate discrimination or favoritism, "an employee must show that he or she has been treated differently from other employees and that the different treatment is not related to the

actual job responsibilities of the employees and not agreed to in writing by the employee." *Bd. of Educ. of the County of Tyler v. White*, 216 W. Va. 242, 248, 605 S.E.2d 814, 820 (2004).¹

As the Grievance Board found, "Grievant provided no evidence to support his allegation of discrimination and favoritism." *Miker v. Monongalia County Bd. of Educ.*, PEGB Docket No. 2022-0581-MonED at 6 (Nov. 1, 2022). The only evidence introduced on the issue of whether there are similarly-situated employees who received experience credit in circumstances similar to Miker's was introduced by the Board. (D.R. 65-67). The Board's representative testified that there are no other instructors at MTEC who are receiving experience credit for having held high level positions in the field in which they are teaching. (D.R. 68-69).

Further, the Board's representative distinguished between the knowledge required to teach the subject matter and experience teaching the subject matter. (D.R. 65-67). Experience credit is received for years of teaching experience, but not for years spent in a position gaining knowledge in the subject matter. Indeed, "years of experience" is defined as "the number of years the teacher has been employed in the teaching profession, including active work in educational positions other than the public schools." W. Va. Code § 18A-4-1(1) (2022).

Again, the Board's representative testified that no other similarly-situated employee was receiving experience credit while Miker's had been denied. And Miker introduced no evidence of any such similarly-situated employee at all. Even if Miker argues that the Board should have granted experience credit for the type of position he held prior to his employment with the Board, he introduced no evidence of any individual who was granted experience credit in those

¹ Though the *White* decision was primarily focused on discrimination, the Court later confirmed that its holding in *White* applied to questions of favoritism as well. *Frymier v. Higher Educ. Policy Comm'n*, 221 W. Va. 306, 313, 655 S.E.2d 52, 59 (2007).

circumstances. Thus, the evidence before the Grievance Board quite clearly failed to establish the prima facie case of discrimination or favoritism.

For those reasons, the Grievance Board correctly determined that Miker had failed to support his allegations of discrimination and favoritism, and its decision should be affirmed.

B. The Board Correctly Denied Miker Experience Credit.

Miker argues in this appeal that the Board improperly interpreted the statute to deny him experience credit; his argument is incorrect. As explained above, "years of experience" is defined in Code as "the number of years the teacher has been employed in the teaching profession, including active work in educational positions other than the public schools." W. Va. Code § 18A-4-1(1) (2022) (emphasis added). That is, by statute, experience credit is awarded only for time spent in the teaching profession or in educational positions.

Miker argues on appeal that the Grievance Board's decision "effectively determined that Mr. Miker's position in a management, sales, and technical advisor role did not relate to his duties as an HVAC instructor at MTEC." (Pet. Br. at 11). He goes on to argue that his experience in the private sector qualified him for his role with the Board and justified the experience credit.²

First, though, that is not quite what the Grievance Board decided. The Grievance Board did discuss Miker's work in the private sector, but it did so in the context of discussing whether he held the knowledge that might be required of a CTE teacher at MTEC. *Miker* at 6. But it quite clearly also discussed that experience credit required a showing that his employment was in teaching. *Id.* at 5. Similarly, the Board has never argued that Miker did not hold the requisite knowledge to be a CTE teacher, at all – just that he did not hold the teaching experience necessary to warrant application of the statutory experience credit.

² The Grievance Board did not interpret Miker as making this argument at that level, and thus, it is not addressed in the Grievance Board's decision.

But further, Miker's argument is directed at the language of the statute, which the Board cannot change. The Board, as is required by the statute, awards experience credit when the employee has experience "in the teaching profession" or in "educational positions." Miker might have a compelling argument that the Legislature should review whether experience in the private sector in the field taught should justify experience credit, but that is quite clearly not what the statute currently provides. The Board appropriately applied the statute when it removed his experience credit, and that decision should not be reversed.

For those reasons, the Grievance Board's decision should be affirmed.

C. The Grievance Board Correctly Determined That A Prior Mistake Did Not Warrant Granting Miker The Requested Experience Credit.

Finally, Miker's argument on appeal appears to be that a prior mistake by the Board in granting experience credit to Miker somehow warrants awarding that credit now; the argument fails. First, it is accurate, as Miker argues, that the Board did not have a written policy addressing the criteria to determine when experience credit is awarded to CTE teachers. (D.R. 47). Thus, the grant or denial of experience credit is determined on a case-by-case basis. (*Id.*). As explained above, awarding Miker experience credit based on experience as a manager or a salesperson or the like would clearly be in violation of the statute, and a mistake – a mistake that the Board corrected in 2013. (D.R. 38).

However, experience credit cannot be awarded based on the Board's prior mistake. The Grievance Board has previously held that nearly the same exact decision does not warrant requiring that experience credit be awarded to the employee. *Ragione v. Preston County Bd. of Educ.*, PEGB Docket No. 2014-1327-PreED (Feb. 12, 2016). In that case, the grievant had previously been awarded twenty-eight years of experience credit by a prior superintendent, and a state audit revealed that the credit should not have been awarded, and as a result, it was removed.

Id. at 3. The grievant argued, among other things, that the Board was equitably estopped from arguing that it was mistaken when it awarded the credit, but the Grievance Board denied the grievance. Id. Of note, the Grievance Board noted that the prior superintendent – by awarding experience credit in violation of the Code section – had engaged in an ultra vires act, which was non-binding and could not be used to force the Board to repeat the violation. Id. at 5 (citing Parker v. Summers Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 185 W. Va. 313, 317, 406 S.E.2d 744, 748 (1991) ("unlawful or ultra vires promises are nonbinding when made by public officials, their predecessors or subordinates, when functioning in their governmental capacity")). Thus, the prior superintendent's award of experience credit was not a justification to award experience credit now.

For the same reason, the prior mistake to award Miker experience credit does not justify awarding it now. The awarding of experience credit to him in 2012 was clearly a mistake, and there has been no evidence introduced at all to suggest it was anything other than a mistake. But that mistake – since it awarded him experience credit in violation of the applicable Code section – was an *ultra vires* act, and it cannot be used to justify awarding him experience credit now.

For those reasons, the Grievance Board correctly determined that Miker was not entitled to receive experience credit, and its decision should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Grievance Board correctly denied Miker's grievance. This Court should affirm its decision.

MONONGALIA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION, By Counsel,